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FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

This case 1is before the Board on the Recommended
Decision of Chief Administrative Law Judge (CALJ) Reidy,
issued pursvant to a complaint filed under 5 U.S.C.
§ 1215(a)(l) (Supp. IXII 1931) by petitioner, the Office of
Special Counsel (0SC), seeking disciplinary action against

respondents William C. Byrd and Joel Rubinstein in their

1 The docket numbers below were HQ12149010020 and
HQ12149010021. The docket numbers have changed as the
result cf the Board’s adoption of a new docketing systenm
after the issuance of the Recommended Decision.



role as employees of the United States Customs Service (USCS
or Customs). The complaint, consisting of three counts,
charged respondents with violating 5 U.S.C. §§ 2302(b) (6)
and (b)(11), and, alternatively, 5 C.F.R. § 735.20la(b).
The complaint accused the respondents of giving Heidi Ward-
Ravenel? an unauthorized preference by using the USCS’s
temporary limited appointment (TLA) authority to hire her
for a Management Program Officer (MPO) ©position in
Charleston, South Carolina, in July 1988. The complaint
further alleged that this wy action violated laws,
rules, and regulations impler :ting or directly concerning
merit system principles. Alternatively, the complaint
alleged that this same conduct created the appearance of
giving preferential treatment in violation of 5 C.F.R.
§ 735.201a(b).? A hearing was held before the CALJ. 1In the
2 Heidi wWard Ravenel will be referred to as ”Ward-
Ravenel.” Her name changed from Ward to Ravenel upon her
marriage to Arthur Ravenel III on June 18, 1988, and the two
names were used almost interchangeably throughout the

proceedings.

3 The statutes allegedly violated, 5 U.S.C. §§ 2302(b) (6)
and (b) (11), provide:

(b) Any employee who has authority to take, direct
others to take, recommend, or approve any perscnnel action,
shall not, with respect to such authority--

(6) grant any preference or advantage not authorized by
law, rule or regulation to any employee or applicant for
employment (including defining the scope or manner of
competition or the requirements for any position) for the
purpose of improving or injuring the prospects of any
particular person for employment....

(11) take or fail to take any other personnel action if
the taking of or failure to take such action violates any
law, rule, or regulation implementing, or directly



Recommended Decision, the CALY found that O0SC failed to
prove by a preponderance of the evidence that respondents
engaged in the alleged vidlations, and accordingly dismissed
the complaint. We have carefully considered the Recommencied
Decision and the record in light of the exceptions filed by
0S< ané the opposition of respondents to those exceptions.

We find that the facts in this case present one of the
clearest possible examples of abuse of the merit system. If
we cannot see a violation in this cise, the very meaning of
the merit system is in question. We find that the Office of
Special Ccunsel (0SC) proved by a preponderance of the
evidence that the respondents violated law and regulati:n as
they were charged. Their actions disregarded the merit
principles which Congress incorporated into +the Civil
Service Reform Act of 1978, and violated the Office of
Personnel Management’s regqulations and rules which support
and effect those principles. The undisputed facts
demonstrate that, in contravention of merit system
principles, the respondents’ actions were designed for no

other purpose but to hire a specific individual, Heidi Ward-

concerning, the merit system principles contained in section
2301 of this title....

The regulation Baid to have bheen violated, 5 C.F.R.
§ 735.201a(b), provides:

An employee shall avoid any action, whether or not
specifically prohibited by this subpart, which might result
in or create the appsarance of:

(b) Giving preferential treatment to any person.



Ravenel. Accordingly, we DO NOT ADOPT the Recommended

Decision and we SUSTAIN the three charges in the complaint.

BACKGROUND

The series of events 1leading to the respondents’
violations began in 1985, when the United States Customs
Service (USCS) centralized its personnel and administrative
functions, leaving the field offices without 1local
administrative support. Exh. R. 19; Exh. P. 1.4 To supply
needed support, the USCS Commissioner initiated the MPO
program to recruit a ‘cadre of highly qualified
administrative personnel at the GS~-9 to GS-13 levels in its
67 district field offices. Id. In 2April 1988, the
directors of these 67 offices, including respondent Byrd,
were given the opportunity to examine the MPO positions and
to give their input concerning the appropriate grade levels
in their regiocn. £xh. R. 19. Pursuant to this input, the
USCS finalized plans for the MPO position that included
extensive training requirements and career-ladder promotion
potential. Exh. P. 1. The resultant staffing announcement
planned and issued for all 67 districts included an MFPO
position in Charleston, South Carolina, where GS-~11/12 was
determined to be the appropriate grade for the éosition.
Id: T-I at 28~-29, 43.% The merit staffing announcenent,

4 7“Exh. R.” and "Exh. P.” refer to respondents’ and
petitioner’s exhibits, respectively.

> #T# refers to the transcript of the hearing before
Chief Administrative Law Judge (CALJ) Reidy.




which opened on July 1, 1988, and closed on July 29, 1988,
was limited to applicants with éompetitive status, or
persons with reinstatement eligibility, and ceftain
handicapped individuals and disabled veterans. Exh. P. 1;
T-I at 41-43.

Twelve gualified candidates applied under the merit
staffing announcement for the MPO jcb in Charleston. T-I at
£9. These candidates were not ranked or considered, because
Heidi Ward-Ravenel had already been selected for the
position. T-I at 46. Ward-Ravenel could not compete under
the merit staffing announcement with the twelve candidates
because she lacked competitive status, and was not eligible
for reinstatement or for consideration as a veteran or a
handicapped person. Instead, she received a temporary
appointment under the agency’s TLA (Temporary Limited
Appointment) authority. Hers was the only MPO position in
the 67 districts that was filled by TLA appointment. T-I at
47-48.

The genesis of Ward-Ravenel’s selection was in or
around April 1988. At that time, she was a GS-13 Associlate
Director of Cabinet Affairs at the White House, under a
political appointment that did not confer competitive status
and was not in the career'civil service. She was looking
for employment in the Charleston area because of her
impending marriage to Arthur Ravenel II, the son of a South
Carolina Congressman. T-II at 43-46. She discussed her job

interest with Edward Stuckey, a former executive assistant



to the USCS Commissioner, who referred her to his former
colleague, respondent William Byrd, the USCS‘Area District
Director for Charleston, South Carolina. T-II at 44-46; T-
III at 9.

After Stuckey’s referral, Ward-Ravenel called Byrd and
arranged for an interview. During the interview, Byrd
indicated that there was & job vacancy for the position of
import specialist and that he had received a memcrandum
indicating that the agency was considering the establishment
of the MPO position or a new type of admiriztrative
position. T-IJT at 47-48, 68-69; T-~I1I at 40. Byrd’s
impression at the time of the interview was that Ward-
Ravenel’s position at the White House ”rang an awful lot of
bells? with him. Exh. P. 8 at 15; T-I at 192. At the
conclusion of the interview, Byrd took Ward-Ravenel for a
tour of the Customs House, joking with personnel along the
way that she was a ”two-fer” because of her congressional
and White House connections. T=I at 192; T-II at 48-49;
Exh. P. 8.

kfter the interview, Ward-Ravenel received a phone call
from Lynn Gordon, the executive assistant to the
Commissioner. T-II at 51-52. Gordon informed Ward-Ravenel
that the MPO position in Charleston was available and urged
her to apply. Id. Gordon also called Debra Jane Spero, the
Acting Deputy Director for the Office of Huma&n Resources.
T=-II at 77. Gordon informed Spero that Ward-Ravenel was a

*management referral” and that she should be placed on the



rolls as an MPO by a certain date. - T-II at 78, 93-98, 104.
Spero conveyed this information to the Director of the
Operations Division, Lori Goerlinger, and forwarded Ward-
Ravenel’s application for employment, form SF-171, to her.
T-I1 at 94. Goerlinger in turn referred Ward-Ravenel’s SF-
171 to respondent Joel‘Rubinstein. 1d.

At that time, Rubinstein was the branch chief in charge
of the Southeast and Southwest regions, which employed 3,000
USCS employees. T-II at 184-86. When Spero and Goerlinger
gave Rubinstein Ward-Ravenel’s application to review, he
perscnally checked her qualifications and determined that,
although she was qualified for the MPO position, she lacked
the status in the competitive service to apply under the
merit staffing announcement. T-II at 80, 105, 216-219. He
suggested to his superiors that if they wanted her to be
considered, they should use the TLA authority. He
recommended that a public announcement for a TLA position
could “piggyback” the merit staffing announcement. Id. His
superiors did not express any <concern about this
recommendation because they considered the reccmmendation as
a *solution to a problem.” T-II at 81, 109, 216.

Rubinstein c¢alled Byrd to inform him that if he was
interested in onsidering Ward-Ravenel, the only way she
could be hir-! was through the 0Office of Personnel

Management (OP: . register route or through the TLA. & T-1I

6 In plarni-y the MPO program, the USCS contemplated
external recru.-ment through the use of OPM registers.



at 224. Byrd replied that he was interested . in Ward-
Ravenel, and that filling the position under the TLA would
be satisfactory. T-II at 224; T-III at 19. Rubinstein then
called Wardé-Ravenel to inform her that the MPO position
could be filled with the TLA and that a public notice would
be going out announcing the TLA position. Rubinstein
personally sent her the asnouncement, and when she received
it, she sent in another SF-171 form. T-II at 52, 54, 224.

Rubinstein, himself, prepared the public notice
announcement for the TLA position which opened on June 29,
1988, and clesed on July 11, 1988, T-1 at 79. After
preparing the notice, he gave it to Clark Woodson, a
personnel) staffing specialist, who finalized it and handled
the distributiorn and staffing. T-II at 226; T~-I at 76-79.
Rubinstein informed Woodson that the public announcement was
for an MPO, high priority#” and that he should *stay on top
of it.” T-1I at 225-26, 251.

Woodson received six applications in response to the
TLA public notice and he determined that three applicants
wers qualified. T-I1 at 88. Woecdson’s handling of this
assignment, however, was fraught with errors. Although .he
was required to distribute the public notice to OPM to
enhance competition, he did net do so,. T-I at 106.
Moreover, he did not consider the application of a 30

percent disabled veteran, although Chapter 333 of the FPM,

Indeed, the OPM register route was used to fill one of the
67 MPO positions. T-I at 42, 61.



Subchapter 1-6, directs consideration of such a veteran even
if the application is late. T~ at 89-90; Exh. P 5(j).
Woodson claimed that he did not consider the veteran’s
application because it was received after the closing date
of the announcement. T-I at 89-90, Although the
application was date~stamped by the agency before the
closing date of the announcement, Woodson nevertheless
stated that the postmark on the envelope, which was lost
from the file, was dated after the closing date of the
announcement. T-I at 89-90; 120-~21, 123; Exh. P 5(j). The
veteran’s application was the only one of the six
applications responding to the publiic notice for the TL2
position that was not initialed by Woodson. T-I at 122-23,
86-88.

Woodson forwarded to Byrd, the selecting official, the
names and applicaticns of the 3 TLA applicants he focund
qualified. T-I at 90; T-III at 22-23. On July 22, 1988,
without interviewing a single candidate, Byrd selected Ward-
Ravenel for the position. T-I at 90~91; T-III at 49-53.
Indeed, Byrd’s only interview with Ward-Ravenel did not
specifically address the MPO position pursuant to either
announcement for that position. On August 29, 1988, Ward-
Ravenel reported for work as an MPO in Charleston, South
Carolina, as.a GS-12, step 8.

Meanwhile, on 2August 7, 1988, United States Senator
Ernest F. Hollings of South Carolina wrote to Patrick

Conklin, the Inspector General of OPM, stating that his
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office had been ”inundated with complaints” about the
alleged preselection of Ward-Ravenel and that several of his
constituents, employees of the USCS, had alleged that Byrd
stated that Ward-Ravenel had been selected for the MPO
position even before the job vacancy had been announced.
Exh. P. 7; T-I at 1 80-82. This letter, eventually
forwarded to the 0SC, precipitated the instant complaint
before the Board.
ANALYSIS

In examining these facts, we have no doubt that the
respondents’ actions were for no other purpose hut to ensure
that wWard-Ravenel was hired for the MPO position in
Charleston, South Carolina. In order to hire her, the
respondents departed from the methods the agency was using
to £ill the 66 other MPO positions across the country at the
same time. They used an authority designed for temporary
appcintments to fill a permanent job without any legitimate
need for temporary staffing. They purposely chose this type
of appointment because it, unlike the methods being used to
£ill the other 66 jobs, would allow them to hire Ward-
Ravenel. The respondents restricted all meaningful
consideration of candidates for the Charleston MPO position
to her alone, to the virtual exclusion of at least 14 other
applicants, by limiting advertising under the TLA public
notice announcement to a narrow g¢eographical area; by
shortening the length of time in which to apply for the job

from 28 days under the national merit staffing announcement
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to 12 days under the TLA public notice announcement; by
recriiting for the TLA position aﬁ the GS~12 grade level
instead of at grades GS-11 and 12 as specified by the
national merit announcement for Charleston:7 by subnitting
to the selecting official only the applications considered
qualified under the TLA; and by never interviewing a single
candidate for the position. Without these extraordinary
actions on the part of the respondents, Ward-Ravenel, having
no competitive status to apply for the MPO position under
the nationwide merit staffing announcement, could not even
have been considered for the position. The respondents’
actions achieved their goal, to place Ward-Ravenel on the
“rolls as an MPO by a certain date.” T-II at 104.

The Board finds that the 0Office of Special Counsel
(0SC) proved all three charges against the respondents by a
preponderance of the evidence. It showed that the
respondents afforded Ward-Ravenel preferences which were not
authorized by law, with the aim of improving her prospects
for getting the MPO jokb in Cha-1l-ston. Their selection and
use of the TLA authority «axactly fits one of the *“ws
examples of unauthorized preference given in 5 U.S8.C.
§ 2302(b) (6) because these actiocns defined competition for

the MPO job in order tc improve Ward-Ravenel’s prospects of

7 Limitation of the grade under the TLA public notice
announcemnent to GS5-12 narrowed competition. Ward-Ravenel was
hired at a high step in that grade, probably enabling her to
keep the salary she had received at the White House as a GS-
i3, '
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getting it.% By hiring Ward-Ravenel based on this
preference, the respondents violated laws, rules. and
regulations that implement or directly concern merit system
principles which require fair and open competi. ion, and thus
violated 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(11), as ¢tk ~~2=ial Counsel
charged. Because the Special Counsel «::2°ned the third
charge c¢oncerning the respondents’ viol.cion of 5 C.F.R.
§ 735.201(a) in terms of an alternativie charge, and because
the Special Counsel proved her first two charges, it is
unnecessary to consider this third charge. But, we note,
nevertheless, that this charge has been proved through the
Special Counsel’s proof of the first two charges; thus, the
respondents were in violation of 5 C.F.R. § 735.201(a).

A. The Charge Undexr 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b) (6)

Section 2302(b)(6); United States Code, Title 5, states
that it is a prohibited personnel practice to

grant any preference or advantage not
authorized by law, rule, or regulation
to any enployee or applicant for
employment (including defining the scope
or manner of competition or the
requiremnents for any position) for the
purpos= f improving or injuring the
prospa+ts of any particular person for
employment.,

Thus, ¢n employee with personnel action authority may give
only those preferences authorized by law, rule or
regulation. For example, prefererces in recruitment and
8 Section 23dé(b)(6) includes, in parentheses, as an
example of an unauthorized preference, *defining the scope

or manner of competition or the requirements for any
position.”
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selection are given by Congress to veterans, ‘ndians in the
Bureau of Indian Affairs, persons with reemployment rights,
handicapped individuals, etc. See, e.g., 5 C.T'.R. §§ 3 et
seq., 307, 352, 353, and FPM Chapter 316.4-.7. Ward-Ravenel
was not a member of any of these groups and respondents have
failed to point to any entitlement to a preference in her
case. Thus, the preference given to Warc-Ravenel was not
authorized by law, rule, or regulation and was viclative of
§ 2302(b) (6).

We agree with 0SC that the words “not aathorized by
law, rule or regulation” refer to the preference that is
prohibited, not to the type of action used in granting the
preference. However, we do not 2agree with respondents’
argument that Ward-Ravenel’s preference was 7Yauthorized by
law” just because the TLA authority, which respondents used
20 hire her, is a wvalid hiring authority. This position is
iike the suggestion that, bacause reduction-in-force
precedures validly govern separations during a
reorganization, using those procedures to discharge an
employee for political reasons :s also lawful. Although a
selecting official does not commit a prohibited personnel
practice under this section nmurely by using a hiring method
in good faith that later tuyns out to be illegal, it is
clear that that same official would indeed violate this
section if the purposé in employirng that hiring method was
to improve or injure a particular person’s prospects for

employment. That is exactly what happened in this case.
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In order to find a viclation under this section, Board
case law requires an inﬁentional or “purposeful takiny of a
personnel action in such a way as to give a preferénce -0 a
particular individual £or the purposes of improving he:
prospects for enmployment.” See, e.g. Baum v. Department of
the Treasury, 14 M.S.P.R. 392, 395 (1983), aff’d, 727 F.2d
1117 (Fed. Cir. 1983) (Table). The evidence clearly
establishes that the intentional actions of respondents
Rubinstein and By:2 in using the TLA had no other purpose
but tc¢ hire Ward-Ravenel. Indeed; we believe the
respondents’ wviolatiuon of § 2302(b){6) is obvious, because
their purpose in us.ng the TIA -- to define tlre scope or
manrer of competitien to e.able them to pick Ward-Ravenel
for tine MPO positior ~-- (s one wf the two examples that the
statute gives as vi ‘#ilions of that section. We thus find
that the respondent ;* actirns were intenrtionally taken in
order to give a -r: :.egince lu Ward-Ravensl for the purpose
of improving her c..a -e#f at the MPO position.

Morecver, the totality of the evidence does not support
the Recommended Hecision’s (RD’s) conclusion that the
respondents’ reason for giving Ward-Ravenel a preference ﬁés

that she was the mest qualified for the job.9 See Johnson

9 Hiring even the best qualified person for the job must
be accomplished through competitiv: means consistent with
law and merit system principles. “hus, an agency may not
grant a preference even to the best quulified person, unless
it is authorized "hy law, rule, or regulation.” As we have
already concluded, the preferen @ given here was not
authorized by law, rule, or regulat.cn.
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v. Department of the Army, 48 M.S.P.R. 54, 58 (1991) (the
Board is free to substitute its own determinations of fact
for those of the administrative | judge, giving the
administrative judge’s findings only so much weight as may
be warranted by ¢tte record and by the strength of the
administrative judc-’g reasonin:). The respondents did not
know whether Ward-k verel was the most gualified applicant
because they did ne¢t consider the qualifications of other
applicants. The evidence damonstrates that the twelve
candidates who applied under the nationwide merit staffing
announcement. were never evaluate: by the respondents. If
Byrd was really interested in hiring “the best,” Byrd and
Rubinstein should have at least lc-cXed at the qualifications
of these twelve candidates. RD at 27; T-I at 46. In this
regard, we note that one of the twelve applicants responding
to the nationwide merit announcem»nt for Charleston was
ultimately chosen for the MPO position in San Diego at the
GS-12 level. See T=I at 188-189; retitioner’s Exhibit 4.
This fact indicates that there were highly qualified
candidates on the na*isnwide list. Th refore, the fact that
Byrd never consideresi any of the 12 zpplicants undercuts his
assertion that he was interested in hiring the best.
Moreover, Byrd never interviewed cither of the other two
candidates on the rzgister of qualified candidates under the
TLA public notine annocuncement, even though one of the
candidates had a nuster’s degree and could¢ arguably have

been more qualified than Ward-Ravenel. T-III at 49-53.
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Further, contrary to the finding of the RD, the only
witnesses at <Customs who testified that they were
7 impressed” with Ward-Ravenel’s  qualifications were
respondents Byrd and Rﬁbinstein, and Byrd’s secretary
Rebecca Dukes Lee, lee testified that she was impressed
with Ward-~Ravenel’s resume because she had worked at the
White House and because she had gone to law school.19 other
evidence indicating that Ward-Ravenel was not preferred
because she was “the best” was the testimony of 0SC’s expert
witness, Edward McHugh, who found that Ward-Ravenel was only
"basically qualified,” as did tha other OPM experts to whom
McHugh referred her application. T-I at 271-274.

Because the evidence does not establish that Byrd gave
Ward-Ravenel a preference for being ”“the best,” we must look
to his testimony for his real reasons. That testimony
indicated that Byrd was impressed with Ward-Ravenel’s White
House and congressional connections and her connections with
the Executive Assistant to the Commissioner, Lynn Gordon.
See Petitioner’s Exhibit 8 at 15; T-I at 192. Based on this
testinony and on the facts of this case, we conclude that
Byrd gave an illegal preference to Ward-Ravenel because he
was impressed with her political connections. Sse Delessio
v. United States Postal Service, 33 M.S.P.R. 517, 519 (1987)
(inferences allcwable from circumstantial evidence depend
upon the strength of that evidence).

10 pard-Ravenel attended law school for 4 - 5 months.
Petit.ioner’s Exhibit 5(h).




17

Moreover, the evidence shows that Edward Stuckey, Ward-
Ravenel’s contact from her White House stint, referred Ward-
Ravenel to Byrd and to Lynn Gordon, Executive Assistaht to
the Commissioner. Two of Rubinstein’s superiors testified
that Gordon desired that Ward-Ravenel be hired by a certain
date, and that her application was given to Rubinstein to
accomplish this goal. From this evidence, we infer and find
that Rubinstein purposefully sought to give Ward-Ravenel a
preference to please his superiors by recommending and using
the TLA authority in order to assure that she could be
hired. See id.

Further evidence that Rubinstein did whatever possible
to hire Ward-Ravenel in order tec please his superiors is
apparent in his personal involvement with the preparation of
the TLA public notice anncuncement and in his directions to
his subordinate, Woocdson, that the MPO assignment was “high
priority” and to “#stay on top of it.” T7T-I at 79; T=-IXI at
225-26, 251i. Rubinstein’s job reguired that he communicate
the objectives of management toc his employees and that he
ensure that work in his branch was carried out properly.
Therefore, based on the orders of Rubinstein’s superiors,
Rubinstein’s responsibilities in conveying the management
objective to hire Ward-Ravenel in Charleston and
Rubinstein’s general directions, Woodson’s claim that he was
unaware of the need to hire Ward-Ravenel for the Charleston
pesition, as well as the suggestion that Rubinstein was

unawara of Woodson’s handling of the action, strain
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credulity. While there is no direct evidence of
Rubinstein’s personal involvement or knowledge régarding the
improper handling of the veteran’s applicaﬁion,. the
circumstances surrounding that application are consistent
with Rubinstein’s giving Woodson general directions that
Ward-Ravenel was to be hired. Woodson’s mishandling of the
application supports a finding that Rubinstein directed that
Ward-Ravenel be hired, and Rubinstein may have chosen not to
know the detailz. The suspicious circumstances surrounding
the veteran’s application were the following: (1) the
envelove with the alleged late postmark date was missing
from the file (T-I at 89-90; 120-21); (2} the application,
although signed by the veteran on the clesing date of the
TLA public notice anncuncement, was agency date-stamped two
days earlier (Petitioner’s Exhibit 5(3j): T-I at 123); (3)
the application was the only one of the six applications
received that was not initialed by Wocdson (T-I at 86-88);
and (4) as personnelists, Woodson and fubinstein should have
known that undar Chapter 333 of the FPM, Subchapter 1-¢,
such an application had t> be accepted even if it was late.
In addition, we find that the use of the TIA authority
to fill a continuing (MPO) position with no need for a
temporary incumbent was an illegitimate wuse ©of the
avthority. The fact that the respondonts resorted to an
illegitimate use of an appointment authority supports the

proposition that +they were taking whatever steps were
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necessary to hire Ward-Ravenel in violation of section
2302(b) (6).

Our conclusion that the TLA authority was illegally
used in this case is supported by an examination of the
applicable regulations and Federal Personnel Manual (FPM)
provisions. Under O0PM’s regulation at 5 C.F.R. § 316.401
(1888), entitled ”Purpose and duration,” OPM may authorize
an agency to make a temporary limited appointment cnly “to
meet. an administrative need inr tempovary employment, such
as to fill a temporary position or a continuing position for
a ‘temporary period....¥ Moreover, under 5 C.F.R.
§ 316.402(a) (1982), an agency cannot use the TLA authority
unless it has

specific  authorization  from [OPM],

except under the conditions published by

{OPM] in the Federal Personnel Manual or

as provided in paragraph (b) of this

section.
Here, there is no evidence to indicate that the TLA was
authorized under section 216.402(b) or that OPM gave the
*specific authorization” mentioned in paragraph (a) of that
section. Indeed, the respondeits’ use of the TLA exceeded
the 2PM delegations of authority that are described in FPM
chapter 316, paragraph 4-1, and went against the purpose of
the TLA as described in section 316.401, because it was not

used to fill a temporary position or to fill a continuing

position for a temporary period, and hecause it does not fit
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the description of any of the four circumstances listed in
paragraph 4-1,11

Additionally, the FPM letters at issue in this case,
FPM letters 316.21 {December 24, 1984), and 316.23 (February
17, 1987), like the provision of FPM chapter 316 described
above, constitute delegations of authority to which 5 C.F.R.
§ 316.40) refer. See Petitioner’s Exhibits 12(k) and 12{1);
FPM chapter 171, subch. 1-1b (purpose of FPM letters is to
#issue continuing instructions which, because of urgency,
cannot be put into basic manual or supplement pages at time
of issuancgﬁ. The content of the FPM lettevs delegating or
declining to delegate appointing authority to employing
agencies therefore can determine whether an appcintment
exceeds an agency'’'s delegated authority and whether that
appointment therefore constitutes a violation of 5 C.F.R.
§ 3l16.402(a). Our review of the contents of these FPM
letters indicates that the respondents exceeded their
agency‘’s delegated authority.

FPM letter 316.21, Paragraph 3, informed agencies that
they could use the TLA &authority “in any appropriate
situation, as determined by the agency.” After l1isting

examples of situations where temporary appointments are

1 The four circumstances described in the FPM as
appropriate for TLAs are the following: (1) positions not
expected to last more than one year; (2) seasonal positions;
{3} part-time and intermittent positions that are net
clearly of a continuing nature; and (4) continuing
positions, when temporarily vacated for periods of less than
one year.
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rappropriate,” the letter also state¢, #[i]n these and other
situations which the agency determines. to be appropriate,
temporary appointments may be made.” (Emphasis supplied.) 12
Byrd and Rubinstein argue that this language gave agencias
unbridled discretion to use the TIA in any way they chose.
They claim, in effect, that it negated the requirement of an
"administrative need for temporary employment.” This
argument, however, ignores the word ¥“appropriate” and the
regulation’s stated purpose for having temporary limited
employment. See & C.F.R. § 316.401. Thus, a TLA was not
authorized by any delegation of authority published in this
FPM letter.

Morecver, we find the respondents’ purported reliance
on the broad language of FPM Letter 316-21 unpersuasive
because the respondents also had available to them FPM
Letter 316-23. OPM published this letter on February 17,
1987, because the broad language of its earlier letter (316-
21) had the potential for merit system abuse.3 FPM Letter
12 Nene of the examples 1listed <contravenes merit
principles. Among the examples were the following: (1)
filling vacancies that occur in commercial activities being
studied under O0ffice of Management and Budget Circular A-76;
{2) staffing continuing positions when future funding and
workload levels are uncertain; and (3) filling permanent
pesitions temporarily in order to save them for eventual
incumbency by career or career conditional employees
expected to be displaced from other activities.

13 Indeed, as the MSPB stated in a 1987 report, “Tempcrary
appointing authority should not ke wused in lieu of

competitive procedures when the intent is to fill a position
permanently. Doing so puts the merit system principles at

risk.” Expanded Authority for Temporary Appeintments: 2
Look at Merit Issues at 6 (December 22, 1987).
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316~23, which summarized the key requirements governing the
proper use of the temporary appointing authority, made it
clear that agencies’ discretion to use the TLA was limited
to situations in which 3'.‘1":5 use would not be contrary to
*veterans’ preference provisions and merit system
principles, as well as other statutory requirements.” FPM
Letter 316-23, Paragraph 2.

In order to ensure that agencies’ use of the TﬁA
authority was proper and in accordance with merit system
principles, FPM Letter 316-23 also set forth the
requirements that OPM be notified of positions being filled
througn the TLA authority, and that agencies indicate the
reason the appointment is being made on a temporary basis in
the remarks section of the Notification of Personnel Action
Form (Form SF-~50). These requirements were not met in this
case., The agency rever documented on the SF-50 form why the
position was suddenly “temporary,” as required by FPM Supp.
296.33. This fact indicates that there was no legitimate
reason for filling the MPO position on a temporary basis.
Moreover the fact that the agency did not give the local OPM
office a copy of the public notice announcement as required
by 5 Cc.F.R., § 330.102 suggests that the person responsible
for this notification had been informed that a TLA was being
used for the mproper purpose of hiring Ward-Ravenel.

Here, the evidence establishes that there was no valid
administrative need to use the TLA authority for temporary

employment in Charleston. The MPO program, personally
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instituted by Commissioner von Raab, was meant to bhe a
permanent professional level position in 67 district field
offices. In accordance with the Commissioner’s plan,
documents describing the MPO program show that the MPO
positinh was a continuing position, and contain no
suggestion of a need to fill it on a temporary basis. See
T-I at 30-~33, 43; Petitioner’s Exhibits 1 and 2.

Gary Seiner, Supervisory Personnel Management
Specialist, the person responsible for finalizing the MPO
program plan, testified that the MPO program was not
experimental or temporary. T-I at 39, 45, 57. Seiner also
testified that he was not aware of any temporary need in
Charleston that would have Jjustified wusing the TLA
authority. T-I at 69. The description of the position
provided for promotion, training, and a career ladder.
These are not features typical of temporary employment. For
example, a person hired under the TLA authority would not ke
eligible for promotion, and an agency would not normally use
its training budget to train a person if that person was in
temporary enployment., T-I at 259-60.

Other evidence also supports the view that the agency

had no administrative need for temporary employment for the

-

Charleston MPO position. Respondents’ argument that the TLA
method was justified because time was of the ..sence and the
poesition had an uncertain future is belied by the facts..
Before Ward~Ravenel sent her SF-171 form to Lynn Gordon at

her White House friend’s (Edward Stuckey’s) request, and
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before Rubinstein was told by his superiors to staff ocut her
application (T-XII at 80, 94, 105, 216, 219), the MPFO
position in Charleston was to be advertised as a permanent
position. T-I at 262~65. Although the agency had
contemplated hiring outside the government, it anticipated
that this would be done through OPM registers, and not
through the TLA authcrity. T-I 2t 42. Thus, even though
the public notice announcement <f the TLA position in
Charleston was put out one day earlier than the nationwide
anhouncement, the MPO position had not been thought of as
temporary employment” and it was only Ward-Ravenel’s
appearance on the scene that suddenly changed this attitude.
See T-I at 69. Indeed, the Charlsston position was the only
one of 67 identical positions around the country filled
through TLA authority.

Further evidence indicating that there was no
*administrative need” for “temporary employment”’ of the MPO
in Charleston is found in Byrd’s testimuny at the hearing.
Byrd never testified that there was an administrative need
for temporary employment for the MPO position, norxr did bhe
state that he preferred the TLA authority over the OPM
register because it was faster:; he testified only that the
TLA sounded fine in filling the MPO position and in order to
consider Ward~Ravenel. T-III at 19; T-I1 at 224. Byrd'’s
testimony indicates that he did not use the TLA authority

because there was an ”administrative need” for “temporary
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employment” in Charleston, but rather that he wanted to hire
the *two-fer,# Ward-RaQenel.

The only suggestion in the record that using thre TLA
authority was appropriate for the Charleston MPO positin»n is
in a brief statement by Rubinstein at the hearing. -II at
220~21. He asserted ﬁhat, although the MPO position was a
permanent position, the TLA was appropriate because the MPO
position had undergone a major change and it had a
questionable future. Id. He never made this claim,
however, to the Special Counsel during the investigation.
T~II at 258. There is no evidence that this view was shared
by Commissioner wvon Raab or anycne else in a position to
influence the program. And there is no indication in
Rubinstein’s testimony why the TLA was appropriate in
Charleston but in none of the other 66 regional offices
hiring MPOs.

Rubinstein alsc testified that after he was charged by
the 08C, he consulted with Van Yee c¢f OPM’s Operations
Branch, who purportedly told him that the use of the Tia
authority in this case was proper. T-I at 241; 274-75.
However; in light of the fact that OPM‘’s expert on the TLa
authority, Edward McHugh, testified under oath at the
hearing at length about the illegality of the TiLA in this
case {T-I at 211-~12, 216, 274-75), and Van Yee never
testified at the hearing, Rubinstein’s hearsay testimony
about Van Yee‘s opinion is entitled to little weight. See

Robinson v. Department of Health & Human Services, 39
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M.S.P.R. 110, 117 (1988). Respondent Rubinstein as a
personnelist and Byrd as;a selecting official knew or should
have known that their use of the TLA authority was'improper
and was not a legal authority to give a preference to an
applicant for employment. See testimony of expert witness
McHugh, 7T-I at 236-40, 256. Nevertheless, even assuming
~ubinstein subjectively believed the position could
legitimately be offered as a TLA, the evidence is to the
contrary, and use of the TLA was in contravention of 5
C.F.R. § 316.402(a), and therefore unlawful. The conciusicn
is thus inescagable that the preference given to Ward-
Ravenel was illegal by virtue of this use of the TLA which
was not authorized by law, rule, or regulation.
Rubinstein’s subjective belief that the TLA was legally used
would be germane only in deciding what penalty was warranted
for the 1legal viclation. See Douglas v. Veterans
Administration, 5 M.S.P.R. 280, 305 (1981).

We are not surprised that Rubinstein’s superiors did
not express concern about using the TILA hiring method in
order to consider Ward-Ravenel because it was thought to be
a ”solution to a problem."14 T-II at 81, 94, 109, 216. The
14  qhe fact that Rubinstein’s superiors did not object to
the use of the TLA in this case does not mean that its use
was lawful here, or even that they thought the use of the
TLA was proper. T-1I at 80-81; 105, 109, 216, 220. In any
event, because they were personnelists, they should have
known that the use of the TLA authority in this situation
was improper or illegal. The fact that they were not
charged with prohibited personnel practices was a matter
left to the Office of Special Counsel’s prosecutorial

discretion. Moreover, the opinion of respondents’
witnesses, private personnel management consultants, David
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"problem” that Rubinstein’s superiors referred to was
finding a way of ”legally” placing Ward-Ravenel in the MPO
position by a certain date. In this regard, Rubinstein’s
superiors, Speroc and Goerlinger, testified that Ward-Ravenel
had been given a preference, and that *[w]e knew that she
worked at the White House and we knew that everybody would
love it if we could place her....” T-II-54.

Contrary to the RD’s finding, it 1is incredible to
suggest that the respondents used the TLA authority in order
to expand corgstition. The facts indicate that the TILA
public notice announcement limited competition far more than
the nationwide competitive announcement because the TLA
public notice announcement was advertised only in
Charlesioan, closed before the nationwide merit announcement
(by almost 2 weeks), and restricted the position to one
grade level instead of the merit announcement’s two grade
levels.

Mnreover, if the intention had been to expand
competition by issuirng the TLA announcement, it would have
been ressonable teo consider responses to that announcement
in _addition to the applications submitted under the
nationwide anncuncerent. Indeed, the original idea for the
TLA announcement came from Rubinstein, who had initially

planned to “piggyback” the TLA anncuncement with the

Burckman and Richard Wo»d, that the TLA authority was proper
in this case, is unsupportabie, and contrary to the
overwvhelming evidence that it was improper.



nationwide announcement. T-I1 at 80, 105, 216-19. UndGer
Rubinstein’s “piggyback” plan, the twelve applications that
were submitted pursuant %o the nationwide announcement
should have been considered. Instead, only the three
applications submitted pursuant to the TILA announcement were
considered, and the twelve applinations were nc. considared
at all. See T~I at 89. Thus, competition was not expanded
by the TLA announcement, but was limited by it.

In addition, as indicated previously, no applicant
responding to the public notice announcement for the TLA
position was interviewed, including Ward~Ravenel. When her
application was submitted, the public notice announcement’s
objective had been met. No other applicant neseded to be
censidered and interviewed and Ward-Ravenel was hired.

Thus, the Board finds that 0SC has establisihed that the
use of the TLA authority in this case was not a prover une
and that its use constituted a preference given to Ward-
Ravenel which was not authorized by law, rule or regulat.ion.
As indicated above, the evidence clearly shows that the use
of the TLA authority was proposed wholly in response to the
request by Gordon to place Ward-Ravenel in Charleston by a
specified date, and that the public notice announcement had
no objective other than to hire her. The totality of the
evidence reveals that the respondents used the entire TLA
recruitment process as a sham to accomplish the goal of
hiring Ward-Ravenel. Cf. Special Counsel v. DeFord, 28

M.5.P.R. 98 (1985) (Director of Administrative Services’
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order to a personnel officer to promote an employee on his
immediate staff in order to give that employee an advantage
in a potential reduction in force wviolated & U.S.C.
§ 2302(b)(6)). We heold that Byrd and Rubinstein violated
section 2302(b)(6) because Byrd was the selecting official
who made the decision to hire Ward-Ravenel through the TLA
authority and Rubinstein recommended the TLA authority and
carried out the administrative aspects of this course of
action that gave her the preference improving her chances at
employment.ls Cf. Special Counsel v. Ross, 34 M.S.P.R. 197,
200 (1987) {where perso..nelists developed a job description
in such a way so that a particular person could qualify feor
it and that particular person was then selected from a
certificate of elijibles, the Board found a violation of 5
U.S.C. § 2302(b) (6)).
B. The Charge Under U.s.c. 2302(b) (11

Section 2302(b)(11), United States Code, Title 5,

states:

Any employee who has authority teo take,
direct others to take, recommend, or
approve any personnel action, shall not,
with respect to such authority ... take
or fail to take any other personnel
action if the taking of or failure to
take such action violates any law, rule,
or regulatior implementing, or directly
concerning, the merit system principles
contained in section 2301 of this title.

15 This case is distinguishable from Special Counsel v.
Nichols, 36 M.S.P.R. 445 (1988), because, unlike Nichols,
there was no emergency situation in the office, there was noc
reascn to hire someone guickly, and there was no lack of
qualified applicants for the position.
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As an initial matter, we disagree with the RD’s finding
ttat a wviolation of section 2302(b)(11) in this . case
requires proof of an improper motive. The statute simply
does not contain that requirement, and the plain words of
the statute show that only three elements must be proved by
the preponderance of the avidence in order to find a
violation of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(1l). These elements are:
(1) a personnel action was taken; (2) the taking of this
action violated a civil service law, rule or regulation; and
(3) the law, rule or regulation violated implements or
directly concerns a merit system principle. See Special
Counsel v. Harvey, 28 H.S.P.R. 595, 599-600 (1984) rev’d on
other grounds, 302 F.2d 537 (D.C. Cir. 1986); wells v.
Harris, 1 M.S.P.R. 208, 241 (1979).

The RD’s reliance on Harvey v. Merit Systems Protection
Board, 802 F.2d 537 (D.C. Cir. 1986), and Starrett v. Merit
Systems Protection Beard, 792 F.2d 1246, 1253, n.12 (4th
Cir. 1986), to conclude that improper motive is a necessary
element of finding a violation of this section is misplaced.
Unlike this case, the courts’ discussion of motive and
intention in Harvey and Starrett was appropriate because the
charges in those cases specifically stated that personnel
actions were deliberately taken that violated laws which
included elements requiring proof of improper motive. For
example, in the Harvey and Starrett discussions of improper
motive, tne courts were addressing how the personnel actions

of the respondents had violated 5 U.S.C. §§ 2302(b){v) and
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{b) (9). These sections prohibited yeprisal for certain
protected conduct, and reprisal requires proof of an

improper motive.1®

See Warren v. Department of the Arnmy,
804 F.2d 654, 656~58 (Fed. Cir. 1386). Moreover, in Harvey,
the 0SC charged the respondent with the personnel action of
#deliberately idling” another employee. Thus, the charge’s
use of the word ~deliberately” connoted P“knowing or
intentional conduct” and became an element to prove in that
particular case. See Harvey, 802 F.2d at 544. We therefore
find that the elements of proof of a violation of section
2302 (b) (11) dépend on the specific charges and, thus, may or
may not include proof of an improper motive.

Here, the respondents are charged with wviolating 5
C.F.R. §§ 316.401, 320.102 and Chapter 316 of the Federal
Personnel Manual. As discussed previously, section 316.401
states that the purpose of tewporary limited employment is
to "meet an administrative need for temporary employment,
such as to fill a temporary position or a continuing
position for a temporary period.” As we have found in our
discussion of the respondents’ violation of 5 U.S.C. §
2302(b) (6), the respondents’ improper use of the TLA under

this charge was contrary to the purpose of temporary limited

16 The language of these sections was amended by the
Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989 to change the
prohibition of a personnel action "as a reprisal for" the
exercise of a specified right to "because of" the exercise
of a specified right. See 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b) (8)-(9) {Supp.
ITI 1991).
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employment.17 To the egtent that FPM chapter 316 pertains
te the conditions under which an agency. may correctly use
temporary limited employment, the respondents also violated
FPM chapter 316 by their improper use of the LA, 18

These rules and regulation do not include any element
of motive, and it is therefore unnecessary to prove an
improper motive to establish a violation of section
2302(b) (11) through a violation of the rules or
19

regulation. Moreovey, the charge itself did not contain

17 Although section 316.401 is indeed the applicable OPM
regqulation detailing the purpose of the TLA authority, the
agency in fact takes this authority from section 316.402(a)
funder the conditions published by the Office in the Federal
Personnel Manual....” Therefore, section 316.401 is
inextricably intertwined with section 316.402. We also note
that the Special Counsel’s failure to c¢ite 5 C.F.R.
§ 316.402 specifically does not preclude our finding that
the respondents violated that sectien. It is clear that the
parties understood that the charge concerned  the
respondents’ misuse of the TLA authority that had been given
to their agency. Furthermore, by submitting evidence
relevant only to an allegation that they had viclated
section 316.402, the respondents implicitly consented to be

tried for such a vioclation. See Special Counsel V.
Narcisse, 51 M.S.P.R. 222, 227 (1991).
18

Frovisions of the FPM have long been considered rules
for the purposes of the Board’s exercise of authority under
5 U.S.C. § 1204{(f) to review ”any rule or regulation.* See
Peollard v. Office of Personnel Management, 52 M.S5.P.R. 566,
569 (1992), citing National Treasury Employees Union v.
Devine, 8 M.S.P.R. 640, 642 n.1 (1981). By analogy, we find
that provisions of FPM chapter 316 which prescribe the
conditions for making a TLA constitute ”“rules” for purposes
of 5 U.8.2. § 2302(b) (11).

15 The respondents have not been shewn to have had direct
knowledge of Woodson'’s failure to notify OPM of the TLA
announcement, or of his mishandling of the veteran’s
application. We therefore do not sustain 0SC’s
specification that they violated 5 C.F.R. 330.102, which
regquired notice to OPM,
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words that would require procf of motive or intent. Motive
or intent is, however, a proper factor to consider for the
purpose of determining the penalty. Seée Carson v. Veterans
Adnministration, 29 M.S.P.R. 631, 634 (1986); Douglas, 5
M.S.P.R. at 305.

Because section 2302(a)(2) designates an ”appointment”
as a covered personnel action within the meaning of the
statute, we find the first element satisfied. Use of the
TLA authority toc make the appointment in this case violated
civil service laws, rules and regulations, as discussed,
supra. The violated provisions directly concern the merit
system principle contained in 5 U.S.C. § 2301(b) (1), which
states:

Recruitment should be from qualified
individuals from appropriate sources in
an endeavor to achieve a work force from
all segments of society, and selection
and advancement should be determined
solely on the basis of relative ability,
knowledge, and skills, after fair and

open competition which assures that all
receive equal opportunity.

(Emphasis supplied.)

We have previously concluded that, because Byrd
approved the use of the TLA, and Rubinstein recommended and
implemented its use without a valid administrative need for
tenporary employment, they viclated 5 U.8.C., § 2302(b) (6)
and 5 C.P.R. 8§ 316.401 anu 316.402(a). This unwarranted
use of the TLA authority had the effect of curtailing
competition (see discussion of violation of section

2302(b) (6)), in violation of the merit system principle
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stated in § 2301(b)(1). We therefore find that the Special
Counsel has proved a violation of § 2302(b)(11) by

preponderant evidence.
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C. The Chaxge Under 5 C.F.R. § 735.201(a).%°

This section prohibits an employee from acting in a way
that might result in or create the appearance of giving
preferential treatment to any person. 0SC present~ this
charge as an alternative theory. Because we sustain the
first two charges, this third charge need not be considered.
But we note that by proving the first two charges, O0SC
proved the third, a fortiori. The respondents’ actiohs were
egregious and caused a strong and notorious appearance that
they had given an illegal preference to Ward-Ravenel. The
preponderant evidence shows that Byrd and Rubinstein created
the appearance of a preference when they advertised the MPC
position through both the nationwide merit announcement and
the shortened TLA public notice announcement and selected
Ward-Ravenel for the TLA appointment. Rubinstein created
the appearance of a preference by personally recommending
the 9YTLA appointment route, composing the announcement
himself and by limiting competition under that announcement
by shortening the application time period, advertising in a
narrower gecgraphical area and recruiting for the position
from one grade level instead of the originally planned two

grade Javels.

20 Contrary to the respondents’ contention that the Board
cannot reach this issue, we find that, because we have found
violations of sections 2302(b) (6) and (b) (11), there is a
nexus to prohibited personnel practice claims and the Board
does have Ijurisdiction over the standard of conduct
violations alleged here. See Horner v,  Merit Systems
Protection Board, 815 F.2d 668 (Fed. Cir. 1987).
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Moreover, even before the announcements were issued,
Byrd specifically created the appearance of giving Ward-
Ravenel preferential treatment when he introduce;d her to
Customs employees joking that she was a “two-fer.” Byrd
also created the appearance of a preference when he failed
o interview a single applicant for the MPO position.

Senator Hollings’ letter indicated that he was
inundated by complaints about Ward-Ravenel’s #preselection.”
Taestimony by Missel, Sayas, Dukes-Lee, Ward-Ravenel and Byrd
established that Ward-Ravenel’s selection was widely
discussed in the Charleston Regional Office at Customs.
Ward-Ravenel and Byrd both testified that the opposition to
her appointment was so strong that she considered not taking
the job. These facts establish that the appearance cof a
preference was created in the mind of a reasonable person.
Moreover, because we have found that a preference was
actually given in this case, the appearance of a preference
was undoubtedly a reasonable conclusion. See Special
Counsel v. Nichols, 36 M.S5.P.R. at 455.

PENALTIES
In a disciplinary action case, a final order of the
Board may impose a penalty as warranted consisting of
remcval, reduction in grade, debarment
from Federal employment for a period not
to exceed 5 years, suspension,
reprimand, or an assessment of a civil
penalty not to exceed $1,000. '
5 U.5.C. § 1215(a)(3) (Supp. III 1991). In determining the

appropriate penalty in this case, the Board takes into
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account the relevant 'factors enumerated in Douglas vV,
Veterans Administration, 5 M.S.P.R. 280 (1981). <See Special
Counsel v. Hoban, 24 M.S.P.R. 154 (1984) (the Douglas
factors are applicable to disciplinary action cases). 1In
considering these factors, the Board also takes into account
the particularized circumstances of this proceeding. See
Special Counsel v. Zimwerman, 36 M.S.P.R. 274, 313 (1988).

With regard to Byrd, we find that his violations of 5
U.S.C. § 2302(b){(6) and (b)(ll) were very serious. The
record shows that Byrd was interested in hiring Ward-Ravenel
even before the announcements for the MPQO position were
posted. Further, his actions in the process of selecting
her, including the approval of the TLA authority, were the
topic of discussion in the ”office grapevine” in Charlesten
which he did nething to dispel, and were therefore
disruptive to that office.

The seriousness of Byrd‘’s violation is magnified by his
position as the district director with a staff of 150.
Because of the prominence of his position and duties,
including law enforcement responsibilities and personnel
responsibilities, we hold Byrd to a higher standard of
conduct than subordinate employees. See Special Counsel V.
Zimmerman, 36 M.S.P.R. at 293.

In deciding the penalty for Byrd, we recognize that he
was in the Charlestc;:n office for six years and that he
received a rating of fully successful during the rating

period from July 1, 1988 to June 30, 1989. See T-III at 4-
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5; Respondent’s Exhibit 3. We are also aware that Byrd had
been subject to discipliﬁary action before, in that he had
received a one-day suspension for obtaining floor s&mples of
ligquor for a group of law enforcement personnel vho had come
to a national convention in Charleston., T-III at 33.

In mitigation of a penalty, Byrd has contended that he
was unaware of the illegality of using the TLA authority in
this circumstance. However, we find that, as a manager with
responsibility for 150 employees and with personnel matters
a part of his position description, Byrd had to have some
knowledge of personnel matters from experience. Thus, wve
find that he should have known that employees are to be
selected competitively on the basis of merit and that an
unauthorized preference is prohibited. Additionally, even
if he had no specific knowledge of the applicable federal
personnel regulations involving the appropriate use of the
TLA autherity, common sense should have suggested that the
TLA authority should be used to hire enployees to meet
temporary needs. We therefore find that Byrd cannot avoid
responsibility for his violation of federal law and
regulations by asserting a lack of knowledge. The recgrd
indicates that Byrd, in ¢the past, used whatever means
possible to work around the limitations placed on managers
by the federal personnel system, e.g., avoidance of OPM
registers because they included older veterans. See, €.9.,
Petitioner’s Exhibit 8 at 41-44. We agree with the Special

Counsel that Byrd’s purported lack of interest, knowledge,
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and responsibility with respect to personnel matters puts
into question his competence to serve as a federal manager.
We also note, however, that it was not unusual at Custcms to
consider the TIA as a means to quickly hire qualified
employees who lacked civil service status. T-II at 194.

Taking int > account all of the factors considered
above, plus the fact +that Byrd terminated his Federal
service effective March 15, 1991, see Official File, Vol.
II, Tab 51, we have determined that the appropriate penalty
for Byrd is a fine of $1000.00, the maximum amount permitted
by law pursuent to 5 U.8.C. § 1215(a) (3) (Supp. III 1991).
Cr. Special counsel v. Doyle, 42 M.S.P.R. 376, 382-83 (1989)
(In view of r spondent’s retirement, the appropriate penally
would be debarment or an assessmenht of a civil penalty not
to exceed $1,000.)

With regard to Rubinstein, we find that the evidence
indicates that his violations of 5 U.s.cC.
§ 2302(b)(6) and (b)(1ll) were the result of his superiors’
directing that he solve the problem of finding a way to
place Ward-Ravenel in the MPO position in Charleston. A
person in Rubinstein’s position, however, should have <nown
that the use of the TLA authority was inappropriate in this
case and should have discussed this with his superiors.
Indeed, because of his area of expertise, he had the
professional responsibility to advise management that using
the TILA in this case was illegal. There is no evidence in

the record that he so advised management. Moreover, it was
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upon his recommendation that the TILA authority was misused
in this case. Thus, we find Rubinstein deserving of =
significant penalty for his violativns. 1In this regard, we
note that 0SC recommended é minimur: penalty of demotion to a
GS-13 ov | .ow, nonsupervisory pos.tion, for a minimum of
three years. See Petitioner’s ost-Hearing Brief at 62.

In mitigation cof the penalty, however, we find that
Rubinstein was considered an exemplary emp’osyee whe had
worked in the personnel field for 16 yeawrs. T-II at 186,
192. Ordinarily, employees at Customs who worked with
Rubinstein, such as Woodson, Spero, Goerlinger and Kilner,
considered him a ”strictly by the rulas” individual who
would not do anything improper. See T-I at 104-05; T-II at
84, 111, 118, 137. Moreover, although RKubinstein should
have known that the TLA authority was improper here, as we
noted also with respect to the appropriate penalty for Byrd,
many »% Customs did not see anything wrong in using this
methe:! as a quick way of bringing on board qualified
candidates lacking in civil service status. See T-II at
194. Certainly, his superiors never questioned using the
T7ILA authorit, in this way and there is evidence that he was
pressured dy his superiors to find a way to enable Byrd to
hire Ward-Ravenel. Balancing these mitigating factsors with
the sericusness of the violations, we have determined that
the appropriate penalty for Rubinstein is a suspension for

60 days.
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We conclude that finding v:clations and meting - .
appropriate penalties in this case =exve Congress‘ interest
in putting agencies subject to the Civ.! Service Reform Act
(CSRA) on notice that selections for ' aployment must kv made
in accordance with law and must mnot e the resu't of
personal or political favoritism. See °. " ep. No. 969, 285th
Cong., 2d Sess., reprinted in 1978 U.&. “..e Cong. & A nin.
News 2723, 2725. Indeed, in enacting the civil Service
Reform Aot of 1978, Congress reflect=2d that #{t]he civil
gservice system is the product of an eajlier refotm, which in
protest against the 19th century spoli.s svstem, promised a
work force in which employees were selec~ - .nd advanced on
the basis »f competence rather than . . cal or personal
favoritisn.” Id. Thus, agency off!:.als s uject to the
CSRA nust make selections of emplo ymene . accerdance with
law, and an agency'’s evasion of this prine 0le should not be
allowed to stand.

ORDER

Accordingly, the Board ORDERS that respondent Byrd pay
a fine in the amount of $1000.00. Payment of this civil
penalty shall be made by respondert Bvrd within forty-five
(45) days £from the date of this Order by a certified or
cashier’s ~heck, mnade ﬁayable to the FKerit Systems
Protection Board, sent to the O0ffice of ¢he Clerk of the
Board, 1120 Vermont Avenue, Washington, D.C. 20419. A copy.
of the check should be sent to 0SC as evidence of compliance

with this Orcder. The Boar. also ORDERS that the agency,
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USC5, suspend respondent Rubinstein for a period of 60 days
without pay. |

This is the final order of the Merit Systems Protection
Board. The responden*s may seek judicial review of the
Board’s action as provided in 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a) (4) (Supp.
III 1991).

Within 60 days of the date of this order, the Special
counsel shall file a report with the Clerk of the Board on
the status of compliance with the Board’s Order regarding

the penalties in this case.

FOR THE BOARD:

Clerk of the Boatd
Washington, D.C.



